
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

June 28, 2018 

 

Lorelei Salas 

Commissioner 

Department of Consumer Affairs 

42 Broadway  

New York, New York 10004 

 

Re: Maxver LLC  

 d/b/a Calle Dao Chelsea 

 461 West 23rd Street (9/10 Avenues) 

 New York, NY  10011 

 Application #:  10292-2018-ASWC 

  

Dear Commissioner Salas: 

 

Manhattan Community Board 4’s (MCB4) Business License & Permits Committee (BLP) held a duly 

noticed public hearing regarding Calle Dao Chelsea – 461 W. 23rd Street on June 12, 2018. At its 

regularly scheduled Executive Committee (EXEC) meeting on June 25, 2018, the Committee voted, by a 

vote of 10 in favor, 0 opposed, 0 abstaining and 0 present but not eligible to vote, to recommend denial 

of the application for a small unenclosed sidewalk café (4 tables, 8 chairs) by Maxver LLC d/b/a Calle 

Dao Chelsea, 461 West 23rd Street (9/10 Avenues), New York, NY 10011, Application #: 10292-2018-

ASWC.
1
  The application should be denied for any one of three basic reasons: 

 

1. When the applicant first applied for its OP liquor license one year ago, the applicant agreed in 

writing with MCB4 and the community that it would not apply for a sidewalk café “now or in the 

future” without the approval of MCB4 and the residents of the building complex that houses the 

establishment.  None of those approvals have been received, and the applicant should not be 

permitted to renege on its agreement. 

 

2. Dozens of residents of the building complex that houses this establishment reported to CB4 the 

problems that would be caused to reasonable residential quality of life by a sidewalk café at this 

                                                 
1
 This letter is subject to ratification at MCB4’s Full Board meeting on July 25, 2018. 

 

 
 

Burt Lazarin 

Chair 

 
Jesse R. Bodine 
District Manager 
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location -- problems that were made evident by the prior sidewalk cafe (of the same size as the one 

presently sought) that was briefly in place under a prior operator at this location. 

 

3. In the year it has been in operation, the applicant has demonstrated a track record of violating its 

agreements with MCB4 and the community regarding the operation of the establishment.   

Accordingly, there is no reason to believe that the applicant would adhere to any restrictions placed 

upon the operation of a sidewalk café (such as hours or physical boundaries). 

 

For reasons outlined below, many residents of London Terrace, the full-block residential complex that 

houses this establishment, have long opposed a sidewalk café at this location.   Accordingly, given these 

community concerns, when this applicant first appeared before the Business Licenses and Permits (BLP) 

Committee of MCB4 in April 2017 in connection with its original OP liquor license application, the 

Committee informed the applicant that it would recommend denial of the application if the applicant 

would seek a sidewalk café.   To secure MCB4’s positive recommendation, the applicant therefore 

stipulated in writing:  “Applicant agrees not to apply for a sidewalk café now or in the future unless the 

café has the approval of CB4, The London Terrace Tenants Association, and the London Terrace 

Towers Co-op Board.”   (See attached Liquor License Stipulations Application dated April 18, 2017.)   

The latter two organizations represent the tenants and the co-op owners of London Terrace, and both 

organizations oppose this sidewalk café. 

 

Accordingly, MCB4’s and the community’s opposition to a sidewalk café (and the problems associated 

with a café) were made specifically clear to the applicant before the applicant went forward with 

obtaining a license and opening this establishment.  That, coupled with the applicant’s agreement not to 

seek a sidewalk café, negates any claim of surprise, unfairness, or prejudice were the applicant’s 

application to be denied. 

 

When the BLP Committee considered the current application at its June 12, 2018 meeting, residents 

turned out in force to voice their concerns and opposition.  Over fifteen residents appeared in person to 

oppose the application, including the president of the London Terrace Tenants Association (representing 

almost 1,000 rental units) and a representative of the London Terrace Towers Co-Op Board 

(representing over 700 co-op units).  The Committee also received over 25 emails in opposition, as well 

as 3 emails in support.  As residents pointed out, this establishment is located in a large residential 

building on a predominantly residential block, and the sidewalk café would be situated just feet below 

bedroom windows of residential apartments, where constant noise from the café would plague those 

residents.  They reported that this West 23rd Street sidewalk is increasingly crowded with, among other 

things, a constant stream of visitors heading to and from the popular High Line, a major entrance to 

which is located just west of this location.  The residents noted that, even without a sidewalk café, noise 

and smoking from this establishment’s patrons loitering out front has unreasonably disturbed residents. 

 

Finally, the applicant’s cavalier disregard of his prior agreements with MCB4 and the community raises 

serious concerns as to whether the applicant would adhere to any commitments or restrictions in 

connection with the operation of the cafe (such as observing the specified physical boundaries of the 

café).  For example, in addition to reneging on its agreement not to seek a sidewalk café without the 

community’s approval, the applicant agreed not to have a storm enclosure (a sidewalk shed surrounding 

its front door in cold weather) or to place obstructions such as A-frame signs on the sidewalk.   

According to community members, the applicant violated both of those agreements, even to the degree 



 

 

of installing a storm enclosure covered with advertising and significantly larger than permitted by city 

law. 

 

For the reasons stated above, MCB4 recommends that the application be denied. 

 

Thank you for your attention and cooperation with this application. 

 

Sincerely, 

 

  
 

Burt Lazarin 

Chair 

 

Yoni Bokser 

Co-Chair 

Business Licenses & Permits 

Committee  

Frank Holozubiec 

Co-Chair 

Business Licenses & Permits 

Committee  
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